desk accommodations for more than four hundred students. A bridge connects the reading-room with Harper Memorial Library, the general University Library.

The Law Library, containing more than 100,000 volumes, has substantially all reported decisions of the courts of the United States and of England, Canada, and the other parts of the British Empire, together with the periodicals, digests, encyclopedias, and sets of classified and annotated reports of these jurisdictions. The Library also receives the briefs and records of the Supreme Court of the United States, and the decisions of many of the state and federal administrative boards, reports and opinions of attorney-generals, and bar association proceedings. Statutes and session laws of the states of the United States and of the British Empire complete the extensive Anglo-American law materials. The Library also contains similar materials covering Roman law and the law of Austria, Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany, Holland, Italy, Mexico, Spain, and Switzerland.

The reading-room contains duplicate sets of reports of decisions of federal, state, and English courts, various editions of the statutes and digests, and the most necessary reference materials in as many additional copies as are needed. The use of the Library’s collection of more than 9,000 textbooks is facilitated by a comprehensive catalogue. Students in the Law School have easy access to the University Libraries, which contain more than 1,250,000 volumes as well as 5,000 current periodical publications.

The Law Library has two special funds at its disposal to supplement general library appropriations. These are the James Nelson Raymond Memorial Fund, established in 1929 by Anna L. Raymond as a memorial to her husband, James Nelson Raymond, an eminent businessman of Chicago; and the Wallace Heckman Memorial Fund, established in 1929 by Mrs. Wallace Heckman as a memorial to her husband, Wallace Heckman, Business Manager of the University from 1903 to 1924.

The Law School also houses the Charles B. Pike Collection of etchings and engravings of the portraits of English and American judges and members of the bar. On the walls of the reading-room are portraits of various members of the Faculty and benefactors of the Law School.

IX. PROFESSORSHIPS

*The James Parker Hall Professorship in Law.*—This professorship was established in 1930 by the alumni of the School in memory of James
Parker Hall, Dean of the School from 1904 until his death in 1928. The present holder of the professorship is George Gleason Bogert.

*The Max Pam Professorship of Comparative Law.*—This professorship was established in 1935 in memory of Max Pam, for many years an eminent member of the Chicago Bar, with funds allocated by the Trustees under the will of Mr. Pam. The present holder of the professorship is Max Rheinstein.

*The John P. Wilson Professorship in Law.*—This professorship was established in 1929 with funds contributed for the John P. Wilson Memorial Foundation by John P. Wilson, Jr., and Anna Wilson Dickinson as a memorial to their father, John P. Wilson, for many years an eminent member of the Chicago Bar. The present holder of the professorship is Harry Augustus Bigelow.

X. SCHOLARSHIPS AND FELLOWSHIPS

The Law School has a number of scholarships and fellowships which are awarded annually to students of outstanding ability who need financial assistance. Application for the scholarships should be made not later than May 15 and for the fellowships not later than February 15 of each year. The application should be made upon a form obtained from the office of the Dean of the Law School.

*The James Nelson Raymond Scholarships* were established in 1930 from a fund given by Anna Louise Raymond in memory of her husband, James Nelson Raymond. The income of the fund is used to provide three annual scholarships of approximately $500 each. Preference is given to members of the Senior class.

In 1938–39 James Nelson Raymond Scholarships were awarded to the following: Irving I. Axelrad, A.B., University of Chicago; Paul M. Barnes, A.B., Monmouth College; and Ritchie G. Davis, A.B., Ohio Wesleyan University, of the Class of 1939.

*The Leo F. Wormser Scholarships* were established in 1935 by friends of Leo F. Wormser, J.D., 1909, as a memorial to him. Three scholarships, each paying full tuition, are awarded annually from this fund. Preference is given to entering students.

In 1938–39 Leo F. Wormser Scholarships were awarded to the following members of the Class of 1942: Kent V. Lukingbeal, Ohio State University; Monrad G. Paulsen, University of Chicago; and William H. Speck, University of Chicago.
Twenty-fifth Anniversary Scholarships are provided from funds contributed by each class upon the twenty-fifth anniversary of its graduation from the School. The amount of the scholarships varies from year to year.

In 1938–39 the Twenty-fifth Anniversary Scholarship provided by the Class of 1913, was awarded to Aaron Levy, A.B., City College of New York, of the Class of 1939.

University Scholarships are awarded from a fund annually allotted to the School by the trustees of the University. Holders of these scholarships are normally required to perform services for the School. These scholarships may be for either full or half tuition. Approximately one-fourth are reserved for entering students.

The La Verne Noyes Foundation, established July 5, 1918, by the gift of La Verne Noyes, provides part tuition fees for students at any level of the University, including the Law School, who (1) shall themselves have served in the Army or Navy of the United States in the war for liberty into which the Republic entered on April 6, 1917, provided that such service was terminated by honorable discharge; or (2) shall be descendants by blood of anyone in service in the Army or Navy of the United States who served in said war; or (3) shall be descendants by blood of anyone who served in the Army or Navy of the United States in said war, provided that such service was terminated by an honorable death or an honorable discharge.

The stipulated period of service for eligibility at the present time is a minimum of five months. La Verne Noyes Scholarships are awarded for only one quarter at a time but upon reapplication are continued during the student's period of residence in the University. Reapplication consists of an oral or written statement to the secretary (Cobb Lecture Hall, Room 203) that the scholarship is desired for a given quarter or for an academic year. Students in residence should make a request for the next quarter, or for the remainder of the academic year, at the time of receiving the voucher at the beginning of any quarter; or, in case of uncertainty, as soon as plans are formulated, but not later than two weeks in advance of the opening of the quarter. Students not in residence are required to make application in writing not less than two weeks in advance of the opening of the quarter in which they wish to receive tuition assistance from the Noyes Fund.
The James Nelson Raymond Fellowship was created in 1933 and 1934 by Anna Louise Raymond in memory of her husband, James Nelson Raymond. The annual income, which is about $1,000, is awarded to a research student in law whose record gives evidence of a capacity for distinguished work in legal research.

In 1938–39 the James Nelson Raymond Fellowship was awarded to Virginia North, A.B., University of Chicago, LL.B., University of Wisconsin.

University Fellowships.—A limited number of fellowships is reserved for research students in law. These fellowships are usually $1,000 each.

XI. LOAN FUNDS

Numerous loan funds are available to students who have completed at least one year of residence in the School.

The Ernst Freund Loan Fund was established in 1922 by the late Professor Ernst Freund, and since his death has been augmented by other contributions.

The James Parker Hall Loan Fund was established by the alumni of the Law School, in memory of the late Dean Hall.

The Floyd R. Mechem Loan Fund for Law Students was established in 1921 by the late Professor Floyd R. Mechem.

The Anna Louise Raymond Loan Fund was established by Anna Louise Raymond in 1932 for the benefit of students in the Law School, preference to be given to women students.

The Julius Rosenthal Fund was established in 1903 by Judge Julian W. Mack in memory of Julius Rosenthal.

The Clark B. Whittier Law Loan Fund was established by Professor Clark B. Whittier in recognition of his previous connection with the University of Chicago Law School as a member of its Faculty.

University Tuition Loan Funds.—The University has established a loan fund from which loans may be made to students in need of financial assistance. The amount of the loan is limited to one-half of the student’s tuition charge. The loans bear interest at 5 per cent, are not for over one year, but may on proper showing be extended.

XII. HONORS AND PRIZES

The Chicago Chapter of the Order of the Coif is an honor society founded to encourage scholarship and to advance the ethical standards of the legal profession. Its members are selected each spring from the 10
per cent of the graduating class who rank highest in scholarship. In 1937–38 the following were elected to membership:

Melvin Cohen, A.B., University of Chicago
Marcus Cohn, A.B., University of Chicago
Harry Kalven, Jr., A.B., University of Chicago
Donald Albert Morgan, A.B., Bradley Polytechnic Institute
Maurice M. Rosenfield, A.B., University of Chicago
Harry Schulman, A.B., University of Chicago

The Order of Wig and Robe offers an annual scholarship prize of $100 to the student who attains the highest standing in the work of the first two years. Students under both the Four-Year and the Three-Year programs are eligible for the award. In 1937–38 the Wig and Robe prize was awarded to Ritchie Gilruth Davis of the Class of 1939.

The Nu Beta Epsilon fraternity has donated to the Law School a scholarship cup. A small replica of the cup is awarded annually to the student who attains the highest standing in the work of the first year, and his name is engraved upon the scholarship cup. Students under both the Four-Year and the Three-Year programs are eligible for the award. In 1938–39 the Nu Beta Epsilon prize was awarded to Walter J. Blum of the Class of 1941.

The Nathan Burkan Memorial Prize, established in 1937 by the American Society of Composers, Authors, and Publishers in memory of Nathan Burkan, is an annual prize of $100 awarded to a member of the Senior class for the best paper upon copyright law. In 1938 the prize was awarded to Marcus Cohn, of the Class of 1938, for a paper on "State Regulation of Musical Copyright."

XIII. STUDENT ACTIVITIES

The University of Chicago Law Review, founded in 1933, is published by the School under the management of a board of editors composed of students. In the autumn of each year the fifteen members of the second-year classes who rank highest in scholarship are invited to become competitors for election to the staff of the Review. From this group the Board of Editors chooses the editorial and business staff of the Review.

The Board of Editors for 1938–39 was composed of the following:

Members of the Class of 1939: Ritchie G. Davis, Editor-in-Chief; Irving I. Axelrad, Paul M. Barnes, John A. Eckler, and Aaron Levy, Editors; Irving M. Feiges, Melvin A. Goldstein, Richard Hall, Sidney Karasik,